IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ALPHONSO CAVE,	
Appellant,	CASE NO. SC03-95
v.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	1

ALPHONSO CAVE'S INITIAL APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Lower Tribunal: The Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Martin County, Florida

Mary Catherine Bonner, Esq. Counsel for Mr. Cave Fl. Bar No. 283398 207 S.W. 12th Court Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33315 (954) 523-6225

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

The instant presentation is Alphonso Cave's direct appeal from the denial of his Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence of death, R. VII.1037.¹

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal by virtue of Art. V.§ 3(b)(1), (9) *Fla. Const.*

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is the direct appeal from the denial of a Motion to Vacate the third sentencing of death. Mr. Cave's Motion to Vacate and accompanying Memorandum of Law were filed September 26, 2000, R.IV, 441, 447, and he supplemented that Motion on March 15, 2001. An evidentiary hearing was held on the Motion to Vacate on March 6 and 7, 2002. R.I,II,III. The parties presented their respective Closing Arguments in writing on April 29, 2002. R.VI, 899; R.VI, 851. Mr. Cave filed a supplement to his closing argument May 29, 2002. R.VI, 929. On June 25, 2002, Mr. Cave submitted the newly decided case of *Ring v. Arizona* as supplemental authority. R.VI, 931.

The defendant sought a stay of the briefing schedule in order that this Court

1

The Record will be referenced by "R." followed by the appropriate volume number and page number.

might apply Ring. R.VI, 952c. The state did not oppose the stay as requested by the defendant. R.VI, 952a. Based upon Ring v. Arizona, the court entered its Order Requiring Supplemental Response on July 28, 2002. R.VI, 951. Subsequent to this Court's decisions in Bottoson v. Moore, and King v. Moore, the state moved to dispense with supplemental briefing. R.VI, 953. The Court entered its Order denying the Motion to Vacate on November 20, 2002. R.VII, 1037 et seq; 1075. That Order denied all relief. Mr. Cave moved for reconsideration urging reopening of the hearing based upon evidence discovered at the hearing which revealed that on his deathbed, codefendant Bush related to his counsel that Mr. Cave had not been the "shooter" in this case, and crucially, that Mr. Cave had actually attempted to withdraw from the enterprise and when he could not dissuade his codefendants to refrain from the crime of murder, absented himself from the area, returning to the car. R.VII, 1056. The state filed a Response. R.VII, 1063. The request for rehearing and to reopen was denied on December 19, 2002. R.VII, 1069. A timely appeal was taken therefrom encompassing not only the final Order denying relief, but also the Court's Order denying rehearing and for leave to amend Mr. Cave's pleadings. R.VII, 1071,1073.

A Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus attacking appellate representation is being filed contemporaneously with the instant briefing.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Counsel Jeffrey Garland represented Mr. Cave at sentencing hearings in 1996-1997, at which time the sentence of death was imposed. He had previously represented Mr. Cave in a 1993 sentencing and in the appeal therefrom. Mr. Garland's testimony was presented by Mr. Cave at the March, 2002, evidentiary hearing, R.I, II, and III, along with the testimony of Leutricia Freeman, the mother of Mr. Cave's deceased child; Psychiatrist E. Michael Gutman; codefendant Bush's counsel Stephen Kissinger, Esq.; and Mr. Cave's mother, Connie Hines. In this presentation Mr. Cave will attempt to categorize the various witnesses' testimony and other issues into specific subject matters for the ease of this Court.

1. MR. GARLAND'S THEORY OF PREPARATION FOR 1996 SENTENCING

At the time of the 1996-1997 resentencing, Mr. Garland fashioned his defense around his fears of: opening the door to nuclear issues; and of opening a Pandora's box of facts concerning the co-defendants. He wanted to avoid the testimony of a jailhouse informant Michael Bryant; and limited his presentation to fit into what he believed to be the "circumstantial evidence rule." R.I, 46, 47.

In light of the unsuccessful presentation in 1993, something different was required in 1996. R.I, 45. Testimony from Cave about remorse and conversion,

coupled with the circumstantial evidence rule, would be enough to avoid the death penalty—he would need no more evidence. R.I, 105. Although Cave was the centerpiece, Garland did not tell Cave until immediately before he put Cave on the stand that he was going to testify. He advised Cave to be himself and to portray himself as the 1996 version—free of drugs, higher functioning mentally—rather than the 1982 version of Cave—drug addicted with a borderline IQ. R.I, 108. All of the aggravating information put on by the State dealt with the 1982 Cave. R.I, 110.

Mr. Garland based his preparation for sentencing on information from Mr. Cave, absent independent investigation, that Cave had only experimented with drugs and was using alcohol and marijuana on the day of the offense. R.I, 43, 44. Mr. Garland's recollection was firm: Mr. Cave had worked "real" jobs, not just day labor jobs. R.I, 43.

Defense witness Leutricia Freeman was a young woman who bore a child from Mr. Cave. During the time that she knew him, he never worked. R.III, 269. When she was involved with Cave, he was 19 or 20 and she was 14. R.III, 278. She supported them by her using her sister's ID to get a job as a maid. Her mother helped them. R.III, 284. When she was pregnant, sometime during the year of 1979, she came into their rooming house and saw a "spike," that is a needle with heroin, stuck in the arm of the passed-out Cave. R.III, 271. Freeman's brother told her that Cave had been

a long drug user. R.III, 272. Cave admitted to her that it was heroin which he was using. R.III, 285.

Freeman saw Cave regularly until 1980 and a couple of times later, once two months prior to the crime. R.III, 273. She knew that he was on drugs the day that he came to see her. R.III, 273. She reached out to the Cave family and told his mother that he was on drugs. R.III, 274. She did not recall whether she spoke with his brother, but knew that Cave's brother was aware of his drug problem. R.III, 274. During their relationship, Cave was using drugs every day. R.III, 275. She saw the effects—Cave sitting with a drooping head and other indices of lethargy. R.III, 276. Freeman was willing to be a witness in the 1982, 1993, and 1996 trials and sentencings but was not called. R.III, 276. She was both available as a witness and locatable because she was in prison in 1996. R.III, 287.

She had been convicted of theft and of cocaine possession R.III, 286.

Mr. Garland firmly believed that Cave was not addicted to heroin, rather that he used it like one would social drinking. R.II, 189.

Mr. Cave admitted to Defense Expert Witness Dr. E. Michael Gutman that he was using drugs and stayed high through the entire decade of the 1970's, and had used a day or two before the crime. R.III, 339, 342, 344. Cave admitted to using alcohol and heroin, shooting heroin, shooting cocaine, using LSD, other

hallucinogens and alcohol R.III, 343-344. Cave believed that he contracted Hepatitis from injecting himself. R.III, 345.

Dr. Gutman testified within a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Cave was in a state of drug influence and habituation prior to the offense. R.III, 350. Cave used heroin three to five times per week as opposed to every day. R.III, 351. Habituation is more of a psychological need, rather than a physical dependence. R.III, 352. Cave was psychologically dependent. R.III, 353.

Garland admitted that he would have had to consider information about heroin addiction from Leutrecia Freeman—that Cave was a substantial heroin user for a substantial period of time. R.II, 256. Garland did not recall whether he asked Alonzo Cave whether his brother was a regular user of heroin. He tried to locate where Lutrecia Freeman was, not to find out about Cave's life including information to be presented to the sentencing jury, but only to find out where their son was so he could put the son on the stand to humanize Cave. Garland could not subpoena Freeman. R.II, 134. He did not check the Department of Corrections to find out whether Freeman was incarcerated. R.II, 257.

Mr. Garland admitted that he had no evidence in his hands as of the 1996 presentation that Mr. Cave had prolonged substantial drug use including heroin. R.II, 132. He did not speak to Leutricia Freeman, R.II, 133, the mother of Mr. Cave's

child. He interviewed some people including some family members and girlfriends. R.II, 134. He did some work to try and find the girlfriend with whom Cave had been living, R.II, 134-135, not to talk about drug use, but to obtain evidence about how he assumed his responsibilities as a father. Garland admitted that knowing that Cave was a severe drug addict in 1982 and times prior to that would have been an important thing to know, but he failed to find that out. R.II, 135.

2. INVESTIGATION, MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES AND EXPERTS

Jeffrey Garland had represented Cave through two sentencings. His observations of Cave and his personal belief as to Cave's intelligence and Intelligence Quotient results in general, R.I,132, led him to do and to refrain from doing certain things with regard to evidence of mental health, drug use, etc.

In the 1993 sentencing, the only mental health issue permissible was that of Intelligence Quotient. R.I, 22,23,R. II, 154.

He evaluated the concept of "suggestibility" only in the context of a confession to robbery, Mr. Cave's belief that the young woman would be released unharmed, and his lack of knowledge of the criminal backgrounds of the codefendants. R.I, 37. He did not consider suggestibility in the context of a reason for Cave's involvement.

A new psychologist was retained for the 1996-1997 resentencing, Dr. Alegria.

R.I, 48-49. Mr. Garland did not know how many times the doctor saw Mr. Cave;

but did recollect that a low/normal IQ was found. R.I, 50. Dr. Alegria was not called as a witness in 1996. R.I, 52.R. II, 202. Since Cave discussed the other issues with Dr. Alegria, Garland feared that calling Dr. Alegria would open doors, so all mental health evidence was abandoned. R.II, 204.

The decision not to put on any evidence of mental health status, IQ, and suggestibility was made because of a fear of "opening a door." R.I, 53. Rather, Mr. Garland believed that none of the "open door" evidence could be introduced if Mr. Cave himself presented the evidence to the jury. R.I, 54.

Mr. Garland might have used other medical evidence had he not been guided by his understanding the "circumstantial evidence rule." R.I, 77. Garland knew that Dr. Rifkin had established Cave's IQ as between 70 and 80. R. II, 170. This consisted of a verbal IQ of 77, a performance of 79, and a 76 overall R.II, 173. Dr. Krop had arrived at an IQ of 72. R.II, 190. Prior to the 1996 sentencing, a newly appointed Dr. Alegria was available to testify.

Dr. E. Michael Gutman, a double boarded forensic psychiatrist, evaluated Mr. Cave for the present proceeding and testified therein. Dr. Gutman stated that Cave had matured since he'd been incarcerated and was clean of drugs, R.III, 299, leading to the raising of the IQ score. R.III, 300. Sobriety, maturation and education impact a person's IQ. R.III, 302,314. Drug addiction clouds and colors the whole person

R.III, 306. The Cave of 1982 is the important Cave. R.III, 307.

Dr. Gutman testified that Mr. Cave's beliefs and statements in 1982 that he was not a drug addict were not to be relied upon because drug addicts are frequently not aware of their own capacities to think and recognize. R.III, 301. Their perceptions are skewed and influenced by the intoxicating drugs in their systems. R.III, 301.

Dr. Gutman testified that people who are abusers of drugs such as heroin could lack motivation, have no drive and be influenced easily and craving their drugs that they will easily "sell themselves to the devil," R.III, 303, and Cave's denial of drug use to Dr. Rifkin in 1982, may have been for many reasons, including that admitting to drug use was a very bad thing and not en vogue. R.III, 315. Dr. Gutman said that this IQ of 76 was borderline, where retarded would be 70 or below R.III, 318. He does respect the fact that Dr. Alegria's more recent evaluation of 90 is also consistent with the truth R.III, 320. He believed it was not unreasonable for Dr. Krop to rely on Cave when he did his report. R.III, 320. Dr. Gutman did not testify to the lack of intent but merely to the impact of drugs. R.III, 321.

Dr. Gutman also opined that even though Cave testified in 1996 that drugs and alcohol were no excuse for what he did, that did not imply that he fully understood or could make the distinction between criminal responsibility and intoxication R.III, 329.

3. THE FAILURE TO PRESERVE BUSH'S TESTIMONY OR TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF HIS DEATHBED CONFESSION.

In the 1996 resentencing Garland acknowledged that it was Cave's prior statement to the police that was the State's main piece of evidence. R.II, 156. Cave walked the young woman from the car, released her, and began the return to the car. It was at that time that Parker passed him going toward the young woman. Cave returned to the car. Parker subsequently killed the victim. R.II, 158. Cave played no part in either the killing by Parker nor the stabbing by Bush.

Mr. Garland along with co-defendant Bush's lawyer, Steven Kissinger, entered into litigations to secure the attendance of Mr. Bush as a Cave witness despite of the fact that a death warrant had been issued for Bush. RI, 99. They were not successful. Garland took no actions to perpetuate Bush's testimony through deposition because, according to Garland, the prior statements of Bush–not the 1996 statement–were not helpful to Cave. R.I, 100. Garland believed as they entered the 1996 sentencing with Bush already dead that Bush's statement spoke only to the fact that Cave was not the triggerman. R.I, 107. Kissinger was not called as a witness to relate the dying declaration because, according to Garland, it would have opened the door to other, sometimes inconsistent, statements made by Bush. R.I, 103, R.II, 125.

Garland did not depose Bush because the State could then have used the

deposition because it would not have been hearsay as long as they established relevance. He felt that taking Bush's deposition would be irresponsible of him. R.II, 142. Mr. Garland, working on the premise that this was going to be a statement that Mr. Cave did not shoot as its *only feature*, did not consider the issue as important because the State conceded that Cave was not the shooter. Garland felt that the Bush testimony was moot. R.II, 243.

Garland, after Bush's death and his deathbed declaration, did not speak with Bush's lawyer, Kissinger. Kissinger would have established that there was more to the Bush statement than Garland believed: Cave withdrew from the enterprise, announced that withdrawal, and removed himself from the area.

Kissinger testified, R.III, 383, that Bush's deathbed declaration contained information which he considered relevant and material. Kissinger testified that Bush related information regarding Cave's relative role, R.III, 386, when he spoke to him shortly before his death, perhaps the day before. Bush knew that his last legal proceeding was over and that he would be executed the next morning as scheduled R.III, 387-388.

Bush told Kissinger what happened that night. Parker directed Cave to provide him with a firearm which Cave had in his possession. R.III, 392. Parker was running the show. R.III, 393. When it became obvious that Parker was going to kill the young

woman, Cave became upset and told Parker he didn't have to do this, [the killing]. Since Cave was unsuccessful in his attempt to stop what appeared inevitable, Cave went back to the vehicle, got inside, joining Johnson, and left them behind. It was at that time that Parker had Bush stab the victim and Parker shot her. R.III, 393-394.

In questioning by the court, Mr. Kissinger stated that following Bush's execution, Kissinger called Garland to tell him about the statements made at Bush's sentencing as well as the declaration the night before the execution. In spite of this, he was never called as a witness R.III, 401. Mr. Kissinger was surprised that he was not called to the third resentencing by Mr. Garland because he had called Garland, made a specific effort to tell him about the statements Bush made, and the circumstances under which they were made.

The statement contained new information that Cave had made an attempt to withdraw from the activities of Bush and Parker. Kissinger believed that was very important and something Garland should know. R.III, 404.

4. PENNSYLVANIA RAPE

Mr. Garland admitted that his investigator had gathered information about a rape involving Cave in Pennsylvania R.II, 116. Garland did not remember introducing the rape in his direct examination of Cave. R.II, 119. He believed he introduced the records showing that this was a case that was nolle prossed because the victim would

not testify. R.II, 120. Mr. Garland said that he discussed with Cave the analytical framework of tradeoff between proceeding on the statutory mitigation of minimal criminal history vis-a-vis the issues which could be raised on cross examination. He also believed that Cave could not talk about his life without talking about the rape accusation. R.II, 121. Garland believed that Cave had nothing to hide from the rape. R.II. 122. Garland admitted that he did not file a motion to eliminate and keep out this rape evidence R.II, 123. He admitted that when the identification of the crime as rape was brought up by the State in cross-examination by Colton, it should have been objected to. R.II, 124,228.

5. MR. GARLAND'S CONCERNS ABOUT CERTAIN "NUCLEAR" ISSUES AND THE CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE RULE

Counsel Garland informed the trial court that he structured his presentation with a belief that he was benefitting from certain evidentiary presumptions but that this Court shifted the review standard from "circumstantial evidence to competent and substantial evidence," R.I,67, and that shift harmed and prejudiced Mr. Cave.

Garland would have considered other evidence had he not misunderstood the standard of review. R.I,74. All of his decisions were impacted by his understanding. He would have approached Cave differently, R.II,237, and would have told Cave to put on all the evidence of duplicity and false statements if he were not trying to avoid

the circumstantial evidence rule. R.I,70

Because of the circumstantial evidence rule, Garland chose to put forth mitigating information from Cave directly and limit the State to using circumstantial evidence of the aggravating factors. R.I, 55, 56. Cave himself was to be the only witness as to his own impaired judgment, inexperience, poor education, lack of criminal background, drinking, smoking and marijuana because that direct testimony did not open any doors. R.I57

Garland avoided any direct evidence of the statements of codefendants because of the fear that the information would be rebutted. R.I,59.

Garland said that merely introducing the prior criminal histories of the codefendants would not in any way injure Mr. Cave, but if he had opened the door to nuclear evidence they could have found there was a man attacked in a restroom that same night. R.II, 127.

Contrariwise, Garland admitted that the State could have taken off from the information that he had entered into the record of Bush and Parker and then put on the nuclear jailhouse witness as he feared. R.II, 129. Garland's and Cave's theory of the defense again was circumstantial evidence of aggravators and maximum evidence of mitigators R.II, 129. With regard to whether Mr. Cave would testify or not, Mr. Garland says that it was his own personal decision. R.II, 232.

A few concrete facts emerged from the discussion of evidence-- circumstantial, nuclear, and otherwise.

The defense came down "to what one person said, and that person was Mr. Cave." R.I, 53,55.

Garland believed that if only Cave testified and there was no other testimony, a jury could only find aggravators if it credited the circumstantial evidence presented by the State rather than the direct testimony of Cave. R.II,239. In other words, to dispute Cave one would have to rely on circumstantial evidence. R.II, 261.

Garland would put on no evidence of the mental state of Cave, his near-retardation at the time of the crime, his extensive drug abuse, his non-working lifestyle, unless it came from the mouth of Cave. Garland believed that psychological testimony would have opened the door to the jailhouse witness Bryant. R.I,56,57.

Garland feared what he called "nuclear" issues—presumably those which could explode and harm Cave. Foremost and perhaps singular among these nuclear issues was testimony from the jailhouse witness Bryant, R.I, 56, who, at the most, could have testified that he heard someone accuse Cave of being a principal and Cave did not respond. Also he would say that Cave was mean to him.

Garland had not analyzed whether the "nuclear" issues could have been used by the State as impeachment no matter from whom the evidence was received. He

was sure that there could be no use of another's statement. R.I,64-65.

Garland was sure that putting on the testimony of a psychologist because it would open doors. R.I,76.

To be sure, Garland was unsure about many things. For instance, although his understanding of the circumstantial evidence rule impacted on all of his decisions R.I,74, he wasn't sure whether it really impacted on his case. R.I.,75. Perhaps he would not have called a psychologist at any rate.

6. MRS. HINES

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