### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALPHONSO CAV	7E
--------------	----

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC03-95

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, Jr. ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEBRA RESCIGNO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

FLA. BAR NO. 0836907 1515 N. FLAGLER DRIVE  $9^{\text{TH}}$  FLOOR WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401 (561) 837-5000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

 $<sup>^6</sup>$  Just last week this Court issued an opinion in <u>Parker v. State</u>, 2004 WL 112875 (Fla., Jan. 22, 2004), affirming Cave's culpability in this murder.

"reckless indifference" to human life and therefore, may be executed even though he did not kill or attempt to kill. Bush's "death bed" statements do not change that fact. Nor does section 777.04(5)(c) require vacation of Cave's conviction or death sentence. As Cave admits, the defense is not available to him because he was not able to dissuade his co-defendants from committing the crime (IB 28).

Moreover, nothing in Bush's "death bed" statements call his death sentence into doubt. The jury would not have recommended life had it heard Bush's "death bed" statements. First, Cave's defense has always been that it was not his plan/intent to murder Frances Slater and that he did not take part in the shooting or stabbing. Thus, Bush's "death bed" statements do really present anything new. Further, Cave's actions the night of the murder overwhelmingly establish his leading role in the robbery/kidnaping and his knowledge/intent that lethal force was going to be used. He and his gang first went into the Li'l General store but they did not take the gun inside. the clerk was alone and opportunity was ripe, they did not rob the store at that time. When they went into the store the second time, Cave walked up to Frances Slater, pointed the gun at her and told her it was a robbery. He then walked Frances Slater to the cash register and demanded that she give him the

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  Appellant testified that he did not know why they did not rob the store at that time (TV 22, 1409).

money, which she did. When Cave asked where the rest of the money was, Frances Slater pointed to the floor safe and Cave told her to open it. It was Cave who took Frances Slater from the store at gunpoint and placed her in backseat of their car. It was Cave who relinquished possession of the gun to J.B. Parker. On that thirteen-mile drive, Cave had Frances Slater put her head down. When they stopped, it was Cave who got out of the car and took Frances Slater with him. It was Cave who sat by as John Bush stabbed Frances Slater and J.B. Parker shot her. His alleged attempt to dissuade them from killing her and his withdrawal to the car before the killing do not diminish his culpability. The fact remains that his actions in robbing and kidnaping her were the direct cause of her death. After the killing, Cave continued back to Fort Pierce with the rest of his gang and divided the stolen money (TV 21, 1331/10, 1332/21).

These facts clearly demonstrate that Cave knew and intended that lethal force was to be used during the robbery and kidnaping of Ms. Slater. At the very minimum, these facts support the finding that Cave was a major participant in the underlying felonies of robbery and kidnaping, and that his overall actions supported a finding of reckless indifference to human life. See Dubois v. State, 520 So. 2d 260, 266 (Fla. 1988) (finding death sentence permissible under Enmund/Tison where defendant participated in underlying felony and was

present when victim was killed); <u>State v. White</u>, 470 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 1985); <u>Bush v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 936 (Fla. 1984) (same).

## Newly discovered evidence

"death bed" statements should be treated as "newly discovered evidence." The State's first argument is that Cave has failed to preserve this claim for appeal. Cave never argued to the trial court, either in his 3.851 motion, at the evidentiary hearing or in his written closing argument, that the testimony was "newly discovered evidence." Rather, he argued it showed that counsel was ineffective for failing to perpetuate Bush's testimony. Cave waited seven (7) months, until after his post-conviction motion was denied, to argue for the first time, in a motion for rehearing, that Kissinger's testimony constituted "newly discovered evidence" (R 1056-1062).8 However, a motion for rehearing cannot be used to make new arguments to the court. Instead, it is limited to showing points of law or fact that the court overlooked in its ruling. See Fla.R.App.P. 9.330(a). As

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Cave's post-conviction motion was filed on September 27, 2000 and his supplement to that motion was filed on March 15, 2001. The evidentiary hearing was held on March 6-7, 2002 and Cave's written closing argument was filed on May 6, 2002. Cave filed a supplement to his written closing argument, on June 7, 2002, stressing that Bush's deathbed statements showed that Cave withdrew from the criminal enterprise before the murder and that counsel was ineffective for failing to bring these statements out to the sentencing jury (R 929-30). Importantly, Cave did not argue that Bush's "deathbed" statements were "newly discovered" evidence.

such, Cave's new argument was not properly presented in a motion for rehearing. Consequently, he cannot raise the "newly discovered evidence" argument for the first time on appeal.

Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

Assuming arguendo that this Court reaches the merits, the argument is not persuasive. As this Court explained in Wright v. State, 857 So.2d 861 (Fla. 2003), newly discovered evidence is evidence that existed at the time of the trial but was unknown by the trial court, the defendant and his counsel, and could not have been discovered by the defendant or his counsel by the exercise of due diligence. The second requirement is that "the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." Scott v. <u>Dugger</u>, 604 So. 2d 465, 468 (Fla. 1992) (quoting <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991)). The same standard is applicable if the issue is whether a life or a death sentence should have been imposed. Kight v. State, 784 So. 2d 396, 401 (Fla. 2001), citing <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991). Evidence which comes into existence after sentencing may not be considered as aggravation or mitigation. Porter v. State, 653 So. 2d 374, 379-80 (Fla. 1995) (holding that "newly discovered evidence, by its very nature, is evidence which existed but was unknown at the time of sentencing").

Here, Cave is offering Bush's alleged "death bed" statements

to Mr. Kissinger as the "newly discovered evidence." There are several problems with his argument. First, Cave admits in his brief that the evidence cannot be "newly discovered" because Garland "could have and should have located the information and would have but for his ineffectiveness." (IB 22 f.n.2). Evidence is "newly discovered" only if it could not have been discovered by the defendant or his counsel by the exercise of due diligence. Here, Cave admits the evidence could have been discovered by counsel and it is clear he had to be aware of the evidence at the time of trial. If Cave had, in fact, attempted to dissuade his co-horts from murdering Frances and had withdrawn to the car, he knew of that from the time of the crime, so the evidence cannot be "newly discovered."

In Walton v. State, 847 So.2d 438, 454 (Fla. 2003), this Court dealt with a similar situation. In that case, the defendant alleged, as Cave has here, that the trial court failed to consider newly discovered evidence which showed that Walton was not the ringleader and was merely a bystander. In support of his contention, Walton pointed to various statements by codefendant Terry Van Royal in which Van Royal disavowed earlier statements he made asserting that Walton was the mastermind or leader of the group committing the murders. Additionally, Walton introduced testimony from two Capital Collateral Regional Counsel attorneys that Van Royal told them that Walton was not

the leader of the group which killed the victims and that the murders were entirely unexpected.

Rejecting Walton's claim that this type of testimony constitutes "newly discovered evidence," this Court reasoned:

It is plain that Van Royal was available at the time of trial. He was available to be deposed, all parties were aware of his existence because he was a charged codefendant, and he gave multiple statements to the police which were available to counsel. What Walton has presented as "newly discovered evidence" is simply a new version of the events from a witness/participant who has presented multiple stories since the time of the occurrence of the events themselves.

Walton, at 454-55. This Court noted that even if Van Royal's newest version of the events surrounding the murders qualified as newly discovered evidence, "it is obvious that this evidence is composed of statements made by an extremely untrustworthy person. If Van Royal's new statements were introduced into the current body of evidence in the instant case--subject to impeachment through introduction of prior inconsistent statements--its effect would likely be negligible."

The same is true here. Bush's alleged "death bed" statements cannot constitute "newly discovered" evidence because Bush was available at the time of trial, was available to be deposed, and all parties were aware of his existence. As in <u>Walton</u>, what Cave characterizes as "newly discovered" evidence is simply a new version of the events from Bush, different from the numerous statements he gave to police and had

made over the years. Further, contrary to Cave's assertions, Bush was as untrustworthy as Walton. Had his "new" statements been introduced--subject to impeachment through introduction of prior inconsistent statements--its effect would have been negligible. See Lightbourne v. State, 742 So.2d 238, 247 (1999) ("[R]ecanted testimony can be considered newly discovered evidence, but ... the trial court must examine all of the circumstances of the case.") (internal quotation marks omitted).

Moreover, Cave cannot show that the evidence "would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." As already discussed under the prejudice prong of the ineffectiveness claim, Cave cannot demonstrate that this new testimony would have produced a life recommendation. Consequently, this claim must be denied. See Blanco v. Dugger, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997)(upholding denial of claim of newly discovered evidence after an evidentiary hearing since evidence is totally inconsistent with evidence adduced at trial); Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1324 (Fla. 1992) (upholding denial of newly discovered evidence of alibi where new evidence was in total contradiction of evidence presented at trial); compare Johnson v. Singletary, 647 So. 2d 106, 110 (1994)(remanding for an evidentiary hearing where challenged testimony is not rebutted by other evidence); Scott v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1062, 1064 (Fla. 1993)(upholding

summary denial of newly discovered evidence claim where evidence does not exonerate defendant); <u>LeCroy v. Dugger</u>, 727 So. 2d 236, 238 (Fla. 1999) (upholding summary denial of newly discovered evidence claim as there was "plethora of physical and circumstantial evidence" of defendant's guilt).

## POINT II

FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING SCHEME IS NOT RENDERED UNCONSTITUTIONAL BASED UPON RING V. ARIZONA AND APPRENDI V. NEW JERSEY (Restated).

Cave argues that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional in light of Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. 2443 (2002) and Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). According to Cave Ring applies to Florida's capital sentencing scheme and requires that the aggravating circumstances be pled in the Indictment and found unanimously by the jury. Cave further argues that Ring invalidated Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532 (Fla.), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1015 (2001) and that Amendarez-Torres v. U.S., 523 U.S. 224 (1998) did not survive Apprendi.

The State's first argument is that this claim is procedurally barred. Although Cave filed a Motion to Dismiss the Indictment for failing to list the aggravators (RA 8-15) on direct appeal and challenged the constitutionality of section 921.141, Florida Statutes (RA 25-27, 28-39), he failed to raise the precise arguments claimed herein or to challenge the statute

in Sixth Amendment terms. Even though Ring was not decided until after the evidentiary hearing on Cave's 3.850, the basic argument that the Sixth Amendment requires jury sentencing in capital cases is not new or novel and in fact, was available prior to Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976) (holding Constitution does not require jury sentencing). See Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989) (noting case "presents us once again with the question whether the Sixth Amendment requires a jury to specify the aggravating factors that permit the imposition of capital punishment in Florida" and determining it does not); Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984); Chandler v. State, 442 So.2d 171, 173, n. 1 (Fla. 1983). "Issues which either were or could have been litigated at trial and upon direct appeal are not cognizable through collateral attack." <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 488, 489 (Fla. 1992); <u>Spencer v.</u> Crosby, 842 So.2d 52, 60-61 (Fla. 2003); Vining v. State, 827 So.2d 201, 218 (Fla. 2002). Thus, the instant challenge to the constitutionality of the death penalty statute could have and should have been raised in the trial court, or on direct appeal. Consequently, Cave is procedurally barred from raising the claim at this juncture. Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755 (Fla. 1984). <u>Cf. Parker v. Dugger</u>, 550 So.2d 459, 460 (Fla. 1989)(finding defendant not entitled to refinement in law on collateral review as issue never preserved); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244, 253

(Fla. 1995)(finding constitutional challenge to Florida's death penalty statute to be procedurally barred for failing to preserve it); Fotopolous v. State, 608 So.2d 784, 794 (Fla. 1992)(same).

The Eleventh Circuit has held that a defendant was procedurally barred from raising a Ring claim for the first time in a section 2254 habeas petition because he had failed to raise the claim in state court. See Turner v. Crosby, 339 F.3d 1247, 1283-86 (11th Cir. 2003). Moreover, this Court has applied the procedural bar doctrine to claims brought under Apprendi. See McGregor v. State 789 So.2d 976, 977 (Fla. 2001) (holding that an Apprendi claim was procedurally barred for failure to raise it in trial court); Barnes v. State, 794 So.2d 590 (Fla. 2001) (holding that Apprendi error was not preserved for appellate review).

Second, neither <u>Apprendi</u> nor <u>Ring</u> are subject to retroactive application under <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980). Pursuant to <u>Witt</u>, <u>Ring</u> and <u>Apprendi</u> are only entitled to retroactive application if they are decisions of fundamental significance, which so drastically alter the underpinnings of the death sentence that "obvious injustice" exists. <u>New v. State</u>, 807 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2001). In determining whether the standard has been met, the analysis includes a consideration of three factors: the purpose served by the new case; the extent of

reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001). Application of these factors to Ring and Apprendi, which do not directly or indirectly address Florida law, provide no basis for consideration of Ring and Apprendi here.

Indeed, numerous courts, including the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, have rejected the retroactivity of Ring. Turner v. Crosby, 339 F.3d 1247, 1283-86 (11th Cir. 2003) (rejecting retroactive application of Ring); Trueblood v. Davis, 301 F.3d 784, 788 (7th Cir. 2002); Arizona v. Towery, 64 P.3d Raman (Ariz. 2003) (finding Ring is not retroactive); Colwell v. State, 59 P.3d 463 (Nev. 2002) (same). Given that Ring is not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In deciding <u>Ring</u>, the Supreme Court did not announce that <u>Ring</u> was to be made retroactive. <u>See Tyler v. Cain</u>, 533 U.S. 656, 663 (2001) (holding "new rule is not 'made retroactive to cases on collateral review' unless the Supreme Court holds it to be retroactive").

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